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THE UNIVERSITY LIBRARY.

The completion of the new Library
building so far as it is to be occupied at
present, and the approaching completion
of extensive improvements on the Chan-
cellor Green building afford a suitable
occagion for reviewing briefly in the Bur-
LETIN a history of the progress of the

Library from its foundation up to the pre-
sent time®* and giving some special ac-
count of the recent increase and improve-
ment in building facilitics.

# Notk.—This sketch should not be taken as a ser-
ious attempt at a history of the Library. It {s merely
ajournalisticattempt to put together some material
now in hand, gathered with reference to a future
history but necessarily fingmentary at present.
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HISTORICAL SKETCH.
GrowTH IN Books.

While the history of the Library of the
College of New Jersey undoubtedly began
with the college itself, the first known
mention of it is in the resolution of the
Board of Trustees in 1750 authorizing the
President to purchase a book-case for the
college; and the second in the 1754 edition
of the “General Account” prepared in
1752 for the use of Messrs. Davies and
Tennent in their famous tour of Great
Britain in search of funds for the college.
It probably depended during the earliest
years chiefly on the private libraries of
Presidents Dickinson and Burr, and it
may have been owing to this fact that
although large enough to nced a case in
1750, yet in 1754 the Library had still to
be described as “at present very small.”

One of the prominent objects of this
visit to Great Britain of Messrs. Davies
and Tennent was *‘the furnishing of the
Library,” and there is reason to suppose
that they secured both books and money
for books, as well as, according to the
advertised purpose, the funds for a build-
ing to contain among other things “a
Library Room.”

This Library Room itself witnessed the
faith of the founders, for it was, we know,
planned on such an ample scale that when
Congress came to meet there in 1783 the
room was found to be “ nearly as spacious
as that which they occupied in Philadel-
phia.” And the faith of the founders was
quickly justified, by gifts from abroad, by
the gifts in 1755 by Governor Belcher of
his library of 474 volumes, and by various
other gifts, so that, before the end of
1759 the total number of volumes had
become not far from 1,300.

In January 1760 an appeal for books

was published by President Davies, ac- -

companying a catalogue of books already
in the Library, and setting forth in con-

vincing language the fact that “a large
and well assorted collection of books . .

is the most ornamental and useful furni-
ture of a college, and the most proper and
valuable fund with which it can be en-
dowed.” The reasons given are that it
enriches the mind of officers and students,
gives them breadth, makes them more
thorough in public disputes, as private
students, in conversation, or “their own
fortuitous Tho’ts,” enables them to inves-
tigate truth and to guard against error,
teaches them “modesty and self-diffi-
dence.” Only two of the books men-
tioned in this catalogue are actually known
to exist at the present time, although more
may possibly turn up. One of these is
the Johnston’s Psalms of David, presented
by Governor Belcher which contains his
autograph. The other, Leland’s Account
of the Deists, London, 1757, as we have
recently learned, through the courtesy
of the Hon. William Everett, is now
owned in Quincy, Mass. This latter
work is of peculiar interest, because the
fact of its having been presented by the
Prince of Wales afterwards George III,
scems to point very clearly to the fact that
the visit of Davies when he preached
before the King was not without direct
fruit for the growth of the Library in books.

While the appeal of Davies undoubt-
edly bore fruit, the early death of its
author probably prevented large returns,
as a circular unless followed up is vain.

Of the interval between the death of
President Davies and the accession of
Witherspoon little is known except the
fact that books were purchased to the
amount of at least £125 sterling, for that
amount was due a London bookseller in
1768. '

On the accession of President Wither-
spoon in 1768 he brought with him some
300 volumes given by “sundry friends
abroad ” for the library and announced
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to the Trustees at their meeting that he
was expecting *‘another considerable bene-
faction of books”—which were doubtless
received in due time.

But the evolution of the book collection
was not all “anabolistic.” So far from
being always up-grade there were at least
two occasions when the “ catagenetic”
tendency was such as to threaten entire

SOUTHERN FRONT OF

destruction. On the outbreak of the Revo-
lution Nassau Hall was alternately occu-
pied by Americans, British, and Americans
again. Itserved asbarracks, prison,stable,
and hospital. Books were carried away
wholesale by the soldiers of Cornwallis,
who took some of them as far as South
Carolina. What foesspared friendsspoiled
again and the waste went on until in 1779

when Dr. Ashbel Green entered college,
“what was left, did not deserve the name
of a library.”

After the Revolution, however, the pro-
cess of recuperation began again with
vigor. A leading factorin the recovery was
doubtless the (£1800) appropriation made
by the New Jersey Legislature in 1796, in
view of the war losses of the college, and

UNIVERSITY LIBRARY.

appropriated by law to “ repairing of the
buildings and the increase of the library
and to the provision of the philosophical
apparatus.” Through thisg appropriation,
various gifts, and the funds coming from
the inauguration of a methodical assess-
ment of 2s. 6d. per quarter from each
student for the use of the Library, the in-
crease was such that when Nassau Hall



76 THE PRINCETON UNIVERSITY BULLETIN.

was burned in 1802 “ three thousand vol-
umes of valuable books perished,” this
being in fact all but a hundred of the total
number. -

But, this second disaster proved a bless-
.ing in disguise. The sympathy was such
that within two years it became far larger
.and stronger than before, and in 1804 the
Library had become “a most valuable
collection of nearly 4,000 volumes.” At

~ least 744 of-these were gifts but a large
share had been freshly purchased by an
appropriation on the part of the Trustees
of 83,000 out of the funds raised, a sum
~which was afterwards increased by £34.
. Forseveral years there seems to have been
alull, only broken by a grant of $100 worth
of books now and then; but on the 13th
of August, 1812, the collection was increased
by the purchase of the library of President
Smith by the College, for the sum of
$1,500. In 1816 the Library numbered
7,000 volumes. This was followed by
another period of barrenncss, relicved by
occagional small appropriations. In 1823
the number of books was still 7,000, and
the same number was still registered in
the catalogue of 1831. This looks like a
mistake, but as a matter of fact the addi-
tions in 1826 were but eight besides cer-
tain periodicals, in 1827 four, in 1828 none,
in 1829 one (gift), in 1830 three books, one

magazine and one pamphlet.

In 1831 four books were purchased and
108 public documents given. In this
year the librarian was authorized to
expend the full amount paid by students
annually, and gifts continued to abound.
In 1832, however, although fourteen vol-
umes were given no books seem to have
been purchased; but in 1833 there was an
ambitious attempt to securethe duplicates
of the Munich Royal Library, which,

although it came to naught, seems to have-

aroused some energy and perhaps brought
money, for in this year many books were

purchased, including the 160 volumes of
Valpy Classics, and many gifts were re-
ceived, including seventy-four volumes of
British Records. In 1835 there were at
least thirty gifts, in 1836 seventy-four vol-
umes of gifts,in 1837 forty-six of gifts and
eleven of exchanges: In 1839 the library
recached 8,000 volumes. During the fol-
lowing years, apparently without special
appropriations or any large gifts, except-
ing one of twenty-one volumes in 1835 and
one of sixty-eight volumes in 1856, it in-
creased to 9,313 volumes in 1850 when
Dr. Giger became librarian. In 1859 the
number was incrcased by the gift of sev-
eral hundred volumes from the library of
Professor Hope and in 1865 by several
hundred from Professor Giger. ‘

In 1868 it numbered about 14,000 vol-
umes, but at that time, through the
influence of Chancellor Green, Mr. John
C. Green cstablished an endowment, and
the number of books began rapidly to
increase until in 1873 it numbered 20,000
volumes, after which the Trendclenberg
collection of about 10,000 volumes was
added and this, together with various gifts
and purchases, brought the number up to
44,000 in 1879. This number increased to
65,000 in 1890, and to 106,000 to-day.

Girts oF Books.

A large source of accessions to the Li-
brary, and important in spite of its casual
nature, has always been special gifts of
books. Up to 1760 at least, the collection
had been “almost entirely formed of Dona-
tions.” The gift by Governor Belcher in
1775, those from British friends through
Witherspoon in 1768 and later have already
been mentioned. In 1785 Dr. Rogers gave
an “clegant copy ” of Montanus’ Hebrew
Bible. In 1793-5 “valuable donations
were received from British friends,” and
in 1802 after the fire which almost de-
stroyed the Library, Princeton’s previous
experiences in gifts of books were quite
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surpassed. At this time the Rev. Dr.
Erskine of Scotland, who had been a bene-
factor at the time of the visit of Tennent
and Davies in 1754 himself sent thirty vol-
umes and his friends sent more. On this
side of the Atlantic the response was even
more cordial still. The President of Har-
vard College (Dr. Willard) in particular
greatly assisted by example and influence

123; Tennessee 104 ; Great Britain 83, New
Jersey 72.

In the following years there are records
of gifts by Hosack, Burder, Pitcairn,
Choules, Buonaparte, and Woodhull. In
1834 the British Government presented
the Record Commission publications. In
the following years the gifts of Chan-
cellor Kent, James Lenox, Matthew New-

CHANCELLOR GREEN LIBRARY.

(notthe first time, by the way, that Prince-
ton had benefitted by the spirit of comity
on the part of Harvard); so that while the
direct gifts of books to the Library at this
time amounted to 744 volumes, almost
one-half of these were contributed by
Massachusctts ; the distribution being as
follows: Massachusetts 356; New York

kirk, 1. V. Brown, Professors Hope and
Giger, and the family of W. H. Beatty are
among the most noteworthy.
Undoubtedly the largest single giver of
books to the Library since its foundation,
if the gifts by the Green family for the
purchase of books be excepted, is Mr. John
S. Pierson, 40, of New York City, who has
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been giving for more than twenty-five
years; he has given more than 5,000
volumes relating to American history and
especially to the history of the Civil War,
and is continuing his good work. It isim-
possible to enumerate in these limits the
small army of givers who are doing so
much to increase the value of the Library
at the present time, but among the more
noteworthy contributions are the Collec-
tion of Virgils presented by Junius S.
Morgan 88, and various gifts by M. Taylor
Pyne 77, C. W. McAlpin '88, William
Libbey '77, Charles Seribner 75, and
George A. Armour "77.

Gi1rTs oF MONEY, APPROPRIATIONS AND
PurcHAsEs oF Books.

There is indirect evidence that a few
books were purchased for the Library be-
fore 1760, and there is presumptive evi-
dence that books were purchased from
students’ fees after 1765, but the first direct
record is the payment in 1768 of £125 to
Field the London Bookseller with interest
and exchange amounting to £248-6-6 proc.
This was paid by appropriation. The
legislative appropriation of 1796 was made
in part for books. In 1796 a committee
of the Trustees was authorized to pay Mr.
Campbell £53 6s. New York currency for
sixteen volumes of an encyclopedia, which
they did paying $133.37 and agreeing at
the same time to take the other volumes
“at the same rate.” Afterthe fire of 1802
83,000 was expended for books out of
moneys raised at that time and later
this appropriation was increased by £34.
When the books of this purchase were
reccived, the Trustees memorialized Con-
gress, but in vain, to have the duties on
them remitted.  In 1809 the sum of 8300
was appropriated and in 1810 and 1812
one hundred dollars each.  In 1812 $1,5(X)
was appropriated for President Smith’s
library, which, although it was proposed

at one time to sell it, was finally kept. In
1814 and 1815 appropriations of $100 were
made and in 1818 a special appropriation
for certain scientific journals, Stephens’
Thesaurus, DuCange’s Glossary, etc. Other
appropriations were in 1819 (8500); 1820
(8200); 1821 ($440); 1822 (8300 and special
for periodicals); 1825 (850); 1831 (the full
amount paid by students annually for
library); 1833 (850). In 1833 the pur-
chase of 85,000 or 90,000 duplicates from
the Munich Library at 20 to 25c. per vol-
ume was considered, but on examination
by Prof. Alexander the purchase was not
recommended, the committec reporting,
however, “that hereafter the eminence of
the literary institutions in this country
will depend more on the extent and value
of their libraries than on any other cir-
cumstance,” a statement which is ques-
tioned by President Maclean in his History
and it may be supposed in his administra-
tion, but which is nevertheless as funda-
mentally true still as it was then or at the
time when President Davies regarded this
as “the most proper and valuable fund
with which a college can be endowed.”
This same year 1833 it was ordered that
the whole of the sum received from the
students for the library should be em-
ployed for its increase, improvement and
care, from which it appcars that this
library was then and there considered, as
gince and everywhere, an easy thing to
economize on when the funds are short.
Twice at least since that time the Trustees
have found it necessary to pass similar
orders.

In 1836 James Madison left the library
a legacy of 81,000 which it is said “ was
the only considerable gift in money pre-
vious to 1868, and was applied to the pur-

. chase of books.”

Up to 1868 the history of the library
funds was rather a history of things absent
than of reality, but at that time the late
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John C. Green at the request of Chan-
cellor Green established the Elizabeth
Fund for the purchase of books, out of
which the library has since received 83,000
a year. This has been supplemented at
various times by special gifts from the
Green family, notably by the purchase of
the Trendelenberg library in 1873 and
during 1877-1878 when 825,000 was ex-

79

Alexander has recently given $2,500 for
the purchase of books on Ethics and in
1896, Hon. John L. Cadwalader, ’56, gave
85,000 for books. There are at present
writing some considerable gifts in prospect.
StrpENTS FEES.

It is not known that there was any
systematic appropriation by the trustees
for the purchase of books or their care

DELIVERY DESK.

pended for books, especially sets of scien-
tific periodicals. From time to time var-
ious classes have given money for special
purchases of books. In 1893 a sum for
the endowment of a library of Political
Science and Jurisprudence from the Class
of 83 was received, and in 1895 a sum for
the endowment of the library of English
Poetry, from the Class of '75. Mrs. C. B.

before 1765; but at that time it was
“ordered for the future, that every Student
and Resident Graduate (The officers of
the College excepted) who make use of
the publick Library shall pay to the stew-
ard the sum of 2 shillings 6d. every quar-
ter of a year to be expended for the use
of the Library,” the expression implying
that there had been no such charge in the
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past. In 1770 this charge was reduced to
18 pence. In 1786 it was ordered “ that
each student pay at the beginning of every
sesgion (i. e. half year) the sum of 5s. for the
useof the Library,” and in 1794-5it appears
that the income for that year at that rate
was about £18 per session or £36 per
year. If the Library received the same
percentage of money at the present day it
would have more than 1,000a year from
this source. As it is, although the actual
amount received for each student is about
the same as in 1774, the total amount re-
ceived, owing to increase in students, is
nearly $2,000.

THE TrusTEE COMMITTEE ONX LIBRARY.

Up to 1830 all business between trustees
and librarian seems to have been trans-
acted by the board as a whole but in this
year it was resolved

“That therc be a standing committee of
five members of the Board to be denomi-
nated the Library Committee to be an-
nually appointed, who (without interfering
with or in any wise controlling the Libra-
rian in the discharge of his present or
future duties) shall be charged with the
superintendence of the Library.”

In 1839 this committee was discontinued
but in 1848 it was revived again and now
exists as the “ Committee on Library and
Apparatus” of which Dr. W, H. Green is
Chairman.

LiBRARIANS.

At various times in thc history of the
college the office of Librarian has been
exercised by President, Trustees, tutors,
professors, and special librarians. In 1760
President Davies was “desired by the
Trustees to make a catalogue of books in
the Library.” It is probable that he him-
self exercised the office of Librarian and
made the catalogue. The first regular
Librarian seems to have been a special
officer, although he is also curator of build-
ings, (a union of officers which often oc-

curs, the “ Library ” generally taking pre-
cedence in the title). In 1768 President
Witherspoon, who scems to have brought
over with him not only books but one Mr.
Hugh Sim, recommended Mr. Sim as a
“ person of singular ingenuity and merit
and well qualified to serve the interests of
the college ” in the offices of Librarian and
Inspector of Rooms, and he was appointed
“with a salary of £5 proc. together with his
commons in college.”  The college, how-
ever, did not long profit by his “ ingenuity
and merit,” for in 1770 he had been gone
long enough for the Trustees to find that
“sufficient care is not taken of the books
for want of a properly established libra-
rian,” and Mr. William Houston was ap-
pointed “to be the college librarian.”
Under Mr. Houston the oflice of assistant-
librarian was inaugurated by the Trustees,
who ordered that *‘ he should beat liberty
to appoint a Deputy under him.” Mr.
Houston’s eompensation was “18d. per
quarter on every student or resident gradu-
ate belonging to this college.” This should
have yiclded an income of at least £20,
and since Mr. Houston on resigning office
of inspector of rooms resigned also £5 out
of his salary for the library, the bhalance
may be regarded as the Librarian’s salary,
though how large a part of this went for
the “ Deputy ” does not appear.

In 1775 Professor Houston appears as
Professor and Librarian. In 1786 Mr.
Gibert Snowden was appointed * Librarian
and Overseer of college repairs” at asalary
of £5. A

The list of Librarians for 1793 to date
according to the General Catalogue is given
below. Allof these up to the appointment
of Mr. Frederic A. Vinton, on the Green
Foundation in 1873, with the single excep-
tion of Mr. Sim, held the librarianship as
a subordinate part of their work, the salary
attached being seldom more than $100
(1849) and often less (1835 &30, before 1834



THE PRINCETON UNIVERSITY BULLETIN. 81

less still), although in 1866 Prof. Cameron
was specially thanked and presented with
8250 for extra efficient service, and in 1870
his salary was increased 8100 for a similar
reason. In some cases the librarianship
was merely nominal. This was generally
the case when a catalogue had to be made,
and naturally so when in 1840 the office of
Librarian and Registrar with the “salary

not including occasional helpers. At the
present time there are eight regular assist-
ants. It should be noted, however, that
although some assistants receive more than
those of 1841 and 1877, the average com-
pensation by reason of subdivision of labor
is not more than half that of the earlier
days.

Within the last two or three years the

CHANCELLOR GREEN LIBRARY.

and emolument” of Tutor was in exist-
ence. To this practical librarianship Mr.
William A. Dod was appointed in 1841,
and in 1844 Mr. Jesse Edwards appears to
have held the same office. From 1873 to
1877 Mr. Vinton scems to have had no
assistant, but in 1877 one was appointed,
and in 1878 another, and before his death
in 1889 there were four regular assistants

administration has been strengthened by
the appointment in 1895 of Mr. V. L.
Collins as Reference Librarian and in 1897
of Mr. Junius S. Morgan as Associate
Librarian, each bearing rank of Assistant
Professor.

Following is list of Librarians and dates,
including the known cataloguers and as-
sistant librarians to 1868 :

[N
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1768 Hugh Sim.

1770 William Churchill Houston,
Tut., Prof.

1786 Gilbert Tennent Snowden, Tut.

1793 John Nelson Abeel, Tut., 1793.
1793 Robert Finley, Tut., 1794.
1794 David English, Tut., 1796.
1804 Henry Kollock, Prof., 1806.
1804 Alfred Ely, Tut., 1805.
[1805 Alfred Gilly, Cataloguer.]

1806 Samuel Bayard, Tru., 1807.
1807 Hezekiah Belknap, Tut., 1809.
1809 William Dunlop, Tut., 1810.
1810 John Bergen, Tut., 1812.
1812 Philip Lindsley, Prof., 1824.

[1814 Joseph H. Skelton, Cutaloguer.]

1822 Moses T. Harris, Cataloguer.]

1824 John Maclean, Prof.,

(1841 William A. Dod, Asst. Libra-
rian.]

[1844 Jesse Edwards, Asst. Libra-
rian.]

1850 George Musgrave Giger, Prof., 1865.

[1865 Rev. William Harris, Catalo-

1850.

guer, 1866.]
1865 Henry Clay Cameron, Prof., 1873.
1873 Frederic Vinton, 1889.

[1889 C. Martins, Acting Librarian.]

1890 Ernest Cushing Richardson.

[1895 V. Lansing Collins, Reference
Librarian.]

[1897 Junius S. Morgan, Associate
Librarian.]

CATALOGUES AND CATALOGUING.

The history of the cataloguing of the
books began with the publishing of the
printed catalogue of 1760. This was pre-
pared by President Davies in 1759 and,
as used to be the custom and is to-day
often in the English auction catalogue,
books are arranged in classes according to
size and alphabetically by authors in the
clagses. In 1770 Mr. Houston was re-
quired “to provide himself with a proper
book in which he shall enter a very exact

catalogue of all books belonging to the
library.” In 1786 the Treasurer was re-
quired to keep a special list of all donations
made to the library and in 1798 Dr.
Witherspoon was “ empowered to procure
a complete catalogue of the library to be
formed with a double index.”

In September 1803 it was ordered that
a catalogue of the books be made and in
1805 Mr. Alfred Ely having made such
catalogue wus paid $20.00 for the work.
In 1811 a catalogue was again ordered and
in 1813 Mr. Bergen was paid $20.00 for
making it. At the same time it was
ordered that copy of this, catalogue be
made and in 1814 $7.00 was paid for such
copy and $9.00 for a catalogue of Dr.
Smith’s library, both to Joseph H. Skelton.

In 1821 it was ordered that “a manu-
script catalogue of books now in the
library be made under the direction of Mr.
Woodhull, and the Librarian, to be sub-
mitted to the Board at their next meet-
ing.” 1In 1822 Moses T. Harris was paid
$100 for this work and $5.75 for stationery.
In this year also a committee was ap-
pointed to consider the matter of a printed
catalogue, and in 1825 the matter was
taken up again and inquiry made as to
cost. In April 1826 the faculty was
authorized to print 1,000 copies of such
a catalogue, but the matter seems to
have rested there, and no catalogue to
have been actually published. In 1844
Mr. Jesse Edwards the Assistant Librarian
prepared a catalogue of his own free will
without remuneration but was thanked by
the Trustees and presented with $50 in
recognition of this service. In 1865 an
appropriation of $250 was made to employ
some suitable person to make a catalogue,
and in February 1866 this appropriation
was increased to $400. In June 1866 the

“Rev. Mr. Harris who had been engaged

for this work, owing to a failure of health
was obliged to give up the transcribing of
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the catalogue, but he was paid the $400.
In the meantime Professor Cameron had
been appointed Librarian and had under-
taken the work of re-arranging the Library
and the classification of the books on the
shelves according to subjects. The Trus-
tees were so well pleased with this work
that they gave Professor Cameron in 1866
a special vote of thanks and the sum of
8250 for his pains.

catalogues of authors and subjects. Both
these systems although considerably modi-
fied are still in operation. A third feature
now recognized as necessary to complete
the cataloguing system was afterwards
added in the starting of an accessions
catalogue, and the Library has now a
nearly complete, though in some respects
somewhat rough, catalogue system accord-
ing to the most modern methods. An

FOURTH FLOOR OF STACK.

With the accession of Mr. Vinton many
other features of catalogue administra-
tion were introduced. His first care was
“to prepare a conspectus of the Library
[what is now known as a shelf list]
arranged according to the departments
of the college.” He also introduced the
card cataloguing system and prepared

alphabetical subject catalogue of the
Library was printed in 1884, a list of
books by and about the Alumni in 1876,
and a catalogue of the special collection
known as the Class of ’83 Library of Politi-
cal Science and Jurisprudence was pub-
lished in 1893. It is intended as soon
as funds are available for the purpose, to
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have a catalogue set up in Linotype bars,
by which method it will be practicable to
keep a few copies for library use of a
printed catalogue kept thoroughly up to
date.

Hours oF OPENING, ETC.

In 1770 the Librarian or his Deputy
were . “required to be in regular attend-
ance twice in every week for the space of
one hour for delivering the books to the
studénts, who shall be allowed but one
book at a time.”
opening had been reduced so that the
Library was open one day in the week at
noon:., Special provision was marde by
which if a Trustce wished to usc a book
in the buiiding at other timmes he could be
admitted, butit was evidently not intended
that any others should use books in the
building although they were allowed to
draw bhooks one at a time and to keep, “a
folio six weeks, a quarto four weeks, an
octavo two wecks and every other book
one week.” Those not connected with the
Colleze were allowed to borrow, leaving on
deposit their note for the value of the
book, but no book could be loaned “to
any person who lives more than a mile
. from the college.” Although in the mean-
time usage had varied, (the Library being
open in 1829 four times a week and in
1831 five times for an hour at a time)
yet the one hour a week rule was still in
force when Dr. McCosh came in 1868, and
it was “ opened on Monday of each week
for the accommodation of the students.”
In 1868, however, provision was made for
cxtending the hours of opening to one
hour a day five days in the week, and
when on October 20th 1873 the Chancellor
Green Library Building was first opened
to the students for the purpose of study-
ing, it was open five days in the week for
an hour in the morning and an hour in the
afternoon. Shortly after another hour in
the morning was added, but in general up

In 1794 the hours of

lege Offices.

to 1877-8 books were delivered only during
one hour, although the library was open
the other two hours for consultation. In
1877-8 it was opened from 10 to 1 and
from 3 to 5, although books could be drawn
only during one hour in the morning and
two in the afternoon. Later the hours for
drawing books were extended so that in
1888 it was open six hours of the day
during five of which books could be
drawn. In 1889 still another consultation
hour was added, and in 1890 it was ar-
ranged to keep open both for delivery and
consultation from 8 A. M. until dusk. It
is now probable that provision may shortly
be made so that it can be kept open from
8 A. M. until at least 10 p. M.
BuiLpixa.

In 1750 a “hook-case,” was sufficient
provision for holding the library, but in
1754 when the money was being raised for
Nassau Hall the need had developed so
far that one of the special objects in
contemplation was “a library room.”
This room was situated on the second floor
front and remained the home of the library
until Nassau Hall was burned in 1802,
That it was of ample size is shown by the
fact already mentioned that it was “ nearly
as spacious as the one which Congress
occupied in Philadelphia.” The library
rooms of the Socicties secem to have been
at this time (1802) on the top floor of
Nassau Hall. After the burning of the
College it was decided that a special build-
ing should be erected ‘*‘containing two
rooms adapted to the accommodation of
the Sophomore and Freshman Classes
during the time which they study in the
presence of their teachers; a room for the
reception and handsome exhibition of
the Library of the College;” etc. This
building was what is now used for Col-
Later two of the rooms were
used for the Libraries of Whig and Clio.
This remained the home of the Library
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until Nassau Hall was again injured
by fire in 1835. When it was rebuilt
in 1855-6, a new Chapel having been built
meantime, the old Chapel was fitted up as
a Library Room, and is described as fol-
lows: “The Library Room is large, beau-
tifully proportioned, and chastely finished.
It is seventy-four feet in length, thirty-six
feet wide, and thirty feet high. It has

The Chancellor Green building was
shelved for 100,000 volumes, and was in
many respects a model library building
for a college library, but the remarkable
growth of the Library during the years
following was such that as early as 1888
the Librarian reported it overcrowded.
During the next seven or eight vears the
growth was even greater, so that -some

SECOND FLOOR OF STACK.

fourteen alcoves and the shelves are of
slate, the parts exposed to view being
enamelled in imitation of Egyptian mar-
ble. The floor is alsu of slate, supported
by iron beams and arches of brick.” The
Library having been once more restored
to Nassau Hall remained there until the
building of the Chancellor Green Library
in 1872,

20,000 volumes were moved to the cellar
and attic and yet the building was crowded
beyond convenient use. In connection
with the Sesquicentennial  however " a
donor, whose name is still withheld,
came forward to provide a thoroughly
adequate extension of facilities in this re-
gard by the gift of a building to cost
8600,000. Shortly after, Dr. Charles E,
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Green made provision for extensive im-
provements in the Chancellor Green Li-
brary so that the building to-day consist-
ing of the Chancellor Green Library and
the New Library building represents a
building investment of about $800,000 and
provides ample room for 1,250,000 volumes
and their proper administration and use.
Following is a detailed description of this
enlarged building.

THE PRESENT LIBRARY BUILDING
AND ITS USE.

The Library building at present consists
of the Chancellor Green Library building
and the New Building, joined together in
such a way as to form one administrative
unit.

THE CHANCELLOR GREEN
LIBRARY.

The Chancellor Green Library building
consists of a central octagon with two
wings, which are counterparts externally,
and consist of octagonal buildings joined
to the main octagon by passageways, the
extreme length of the whole building from
wing to wing being 160 feet. - The central
octagon is sixty-four feet in diameter, is
fifty feet high at the highest points, and
contains an elevated floorway twelve feet
from the floor and sixteen feet wide. Each
side of the octagon contained originally
four radial bookcases on each floor and
the sixty-four cases furnished a shelving
capacity of about 100,000 volumes.

The west wing consists of a single room
with extreme length of 40 feet, and ex-
treme width of 20 feet, and is occupied
as a room for the meetings of the Trustees.
Its counterpart on the east end is divided
into two administration rooms with safes,
etc.

The plan of the building was prepared
according to the suggestions of Chancellor
Green and Professor Shiclds. Ground
was broken November 10, 1872. The

dedication exercises took place at the Com-
mencement in 1873, and it was finished
about the first of September of the same
year, the books being moved in from Nas-"
sau Hall August 20-23. The Architect
was Mr. Wm. A. Potter of New York.
When after a service of twenty-five
years this building was found too small for
storage purposes it proved equally and
peculiarly fitted to the purposes of a work-
ing library and it was thoroughly adapted,
under the direction of Dr. Charles E.
Green, to these purposes, it being meant
by *working library ” that the building
contains not only reading-room space, and
reference books, but also a large selection
of books for gencral circulation, which
will form a sort of reading list for students.
The improvements consist in (1) the
introduction of a complete system of
forced ventilation, so that the room can
be made at all times suitable for study;
(2) a complete system of electric lighting;
(3) the taking out of certain of the pro-
Jecting cases and replacing them with wall-
cases and tables. This reduces consider-
ably the amount of shelving, but enor-
mously increases the space for readers.
This arrangement leaves cight alcoves up
stairs and seven down fitted with tables,
the other being used as passage way into
the new building. The tables are for the
most part 10 by 4 or 8 by 4 feet and afford
accommodations for 200 readers or more.
The arrangement of cases in this room is
such that by the retention of the projecting
cases at the corners of the octagon the
character of the old room is preserved and
the alcoves formed serve not mercly as
ordinary reading room, but serve many of
the purposes of the small seminar room.
The different alcoves are assigned to dif-
ferent branches—Reference books proper,
American history, General history, Gen-
eral language and literature, Latin, Greek,
ete., etc, and the leading periodicals, en-
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cyclopedias, reference books, text books,
etc., of each class, including both books of
reference and books for circulation are
gathered there. Provision is made for
having all the latest accessions to each de-
partment placed on shelves at the entrance
to the room. The library is intended,
therefore, to contain the best and latest
working books in every department. The

has for so many years been among the
best equipped of college libraries, and
which it is hoped may prove to be in its
more specialized function even more dis-
tinguished than before. There is good
reason to anticipate that in its equipment
it will become second to none.

This room is the headquarters of the
Reference Librarian whose office is to as-

ENTRANCE TO THE CHANCELLOR GREEN LIBRARY.

shelving capacity of the building is now
about 35,000 volumes.

The portrait busts have been rearranged
so that of Chancellor Green faces the
new entrance and is flanked by those of
Presidents Maclean and McCosh, all three
having had an active share in the forma-
tion of the Library so long identified
with the name of Chancellor Green, which

gist investigators whether undergraduates
or post graduate to the sources for their
work. It is connected with all parts of
the building by telephone so that any book
in the stack can at any time be sent for in
this way, or by page who will be in attend-
ance, and delivered at the desk of the
reader.

ak
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THE NEW LIBRARY BUILDING.

The new library building following the
English collegiate style of the fifteenth
century is in the form of a hollow quad-
rangle, 160 by 155 feet square, two and a
half stories high in the seminar rooms, five
stories in the stack, and higherat the tow-
ers, connected with the Chancellor Green
Library by a ligature 20 by 50 feet. A court
75 by 75 is about the size recognized as
suitable for light space. The building
itself running around the quadrangle is
forty feet through, (twenty feet on each
side being about the distance recognized
by librarians as the practical distance
which light will travel into the alcoves of
the stack system.)

Its history is as follows: In connec-
tion with the Sesquicentennial of the
College the announcement was made of
a gift, by a donor whose name was and
is still withheld, of the sum of $600,000
to provide the sorely needed enlargement
of building facilities. The gift was pre-
sented through and administered by M.
Taylor Pyne, Esq., ’77, who called into con-
sultation Mr. Junius S. Morgan, ’88, and
the Librarian, and after repeated plans had
been submitted, the plans of Mr. Wm. A.
Potter of New York, the architect of the
old library, were accepted, contracts were
signed in June and work was begun August
2nd. The greatest pains was taken by Mr.
Pyne and the architect, together with all
concerned, to secure the best form of archi-
tecture compatible with thorough practi-
cality of administration and the best pos-
sible administrative capability compatible
with suitable academic architecture. The
form first proposed was not that collegiate
style which was finally adopted; but when
it was seen how thoroughly adapted this
style was to technical needs it was adopted.
with enthusiasm on the part of both archi-
tect and committee. As a matter of fact,
the hollow quadrangle is the only practical

form for a library, allowing as it does in-
definite extension in the same form and
allowing light from both sides. Most of
the modern libraries of whatever shape,
at home or abroad, when adapted with
special reference to use, do and must have
practically this form whatever the shape.
The most recent example of a large city
library in which the most extraordinary
and scrupulous pains have been taken to
get the most practical form in every re-
spect (the New York City library) illus-
trates this very point, the light well as
planned being not far from the dimensions
of the quadrangle of this library.

Practically the only concession to archi-
tecture that had to be made by adminis-
tration was an inconsiderable increase in
the size of the quadrangle light well over
the absolutely necessary size for this build-
ing which is lower than the average, unless
the arrangement of windows be considered
a concession, but it was found that even in
this respect the style approached more
nearly the ideal arrangement than any
other known style, except what may be
called factory style ;—the ideal of adminis-
tration being a window opposite the en-
trance to each alcove.

The building contains delivery room,
stack room, and about forty smaller rooms
for various purposes ; ten for administra-
tion and sixteen for seminar work, thirteen
for machinery, toilet rooms, etc. It has
the latest systems for heat, light, and ven-
tilation, and is provided with electric light,
interior telephone system, electric eleva-
tors, etc.

DEeLivEry Roowm.

The ligature connecting the Chancellor
Green Library with the main part of the
new building measures 20 by 50 feet and
contains the Delivery room, and the Print-
ing and Binding room, the latter occupying
the basement. Entrance to the building
is from both sides through small hallways



THE PRINCETON UNIVERSITY BULLETIN. 89

into the delivery room, one entrance facing
Nassau Hall and the other Dickinson Hall.
In the delivery room just at the south of
the entrances, is the delivery desk or coun-
ter, which encloses all the space on that
side excepting a passage to the Exhibition
room on the west side. To the north of
the entrances on the west side of the room
are cases for card catalogue, with a capacity

grille work surmounting the delivery desk
and separating the room from the stack
and exhibition room is of hammered iron,
natural finish.

The delivery desk is the Carfax of the
library, standing at the junction of the two
ways connecting with the Campus, the
way to the Working Library, the way to the
Exhibition room and the way to the Stack

EXHIBITION ROOM.

of two hundred thousand cards. On the
east side are cases for overcoats and hats.
The north face of the room is the entrance
to the Chancellor Green Library.

The room is finished massively with
brown stone and art-brick walls, mosaic
floor, a paneled oak -ceiling, and oak
furniture. Leaded glass windows contain
emblematic figures of Lux, Pax, ctc. The

and Administration rooms. Here all
books taken for home use are charged and
discharged and tickets of admission to the
stack are presented.

Stack Room.

The “stack ” or shelving of the library
is suited to a final capacity of 1,250,000
volumes and occupies a room running all
around the quadrangle.

.
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Roughly speaking, all of the north and
south portions of the building, except at
the ends, are taken up in this way,
as well as more or less space on the
sides. There is actually somewhat more
shelving in the side wings than appears on
the ground plan since the space over both
driveways and over one set of seminar
rooms at each corner is used for this pur-
pose. The reason for this arrangement
is that by the use of electric elevators, lifts
and by underground trolley greater econ-
omy of administration is attained,in bring-
ing the average book to the delivery desk
than under any other arrangement.

The stack is what is known as the Li-
brary Bureau’s system and consists of five
stories, each story being seven and one-
half feet high. The construction is of
iron, steel and glass except the shelves
which are of wood. The fundamental
feature of the style is the “open end”
construction by which shelves are sup-
ported on brackets attached to a central
upright rather than on pins or bars at-
tached to ends. The brackets used are of
white enameled rolled steel and by the
use of a set screw in an iron channel these
can be raised or lowered and so adjusted
to any desired height whatever. The
shelves are of wood because this allows of
a groove in front for receiving shelf labels
and the consequent doing away with the
cumbersome label-holder,and also because
the metal shelf is too slippery when pol-
ished and too wearing on books when
roughened. The floors are of glass and
iron, the air spaces being left under
each range of shelves, and these are pro-
tected against the dirt and water during
cleansing by raised iron frames. The
light and graceful structure of the open
end system, the glass floors, white enamel

ends and white painted rim together with -

the admirable amount of area in the
windows produce an exceptionally light

and attractive stack from the technical
standpoint. Even on the ground floor
where the light area is much less than
above, practically the same amount of
light is obtained by the use of Luxfer
prism glass. It is expected that the
electric light will be needed in the day-
time only on the very darkest days and
toward the end of the afternoon. Never-
theless the whole building has been furn-
ished throughout with electric lights of
the most complete plan in the hope that
we may soon be able to open in the evening.
While it is expected that the ample pro-
visions for study outside the stack will do
away with much of the need of study
within, nevertheless ample provision has
been made for such use if desired by tables
scattered here and there throughout the
stack.
ExHisrrioNn Room.

Immediately adjoining the delivery
room in the northwest corner of the stack
an exhibition room 40 by 50 feet with alcove
12 by 25 feet has been made by leaving out
two stories of the stack for this space and
fitting this up with oak cabinets and show-
cases, including specially devised racks for
holding folios when in use. The room
contains the Morgan collection of Virgils
and other books and manusecripts suitable
for exhibition. The alcove contains the
unique collection of portrait masks pre-
sented by Mr. Laurence Hutton.

ADMINISTRATION Roowms.

The northeast corner of the building is
occupied by the administration rooms
proper, the ground floor containing rooms
for the chief librarian, a typewriter’s room,
and the ordering department room. The
second floor has the corresponding three
rooms thrown into one for a cataloguing
room, and on the third floor there is a
room for the cataloguing of periodicals
and pamphlets. The basement contains
storage rooms, safe, and storage vault, and
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toilet rooms. The ordering room is con-
nected with the cataloguing room above
by a small electric elevator. Books are
brought into the former room by a door
opening under the arch of the east tower.
After they have been checked up with the
order slips they are taken on the elevator
to the floor above where they are put
through the various processes of the author
and subject catalogue and the shelf-list.

In addition to these groups of rooms
and the printing and binding rooms al-
ready mentioned, used for administration
purposes, is the room in the east tower
immediately adjoining the administration
rooms proper, and furnished with two
stories of stack, which is used for the
“ purchase system,”—the collection of
booksellers’ catalogues, clippings, recom-
mendations, etc., which form the apparatus
from which the list of books most needed
for the library is being prepared—a list
already including more than 200,000 vol-
umes and which is being increased to in-
clude 500,000. The corresponding room
opposite the tower is used for kept books.
Each tower contains above the stack, a
room available for administration pur-
poses, and the west tower has in addition
a large room which it is proposed to use
as a seminar room for bibliographical
work.

SEMINAR Roowms.

A special feature of the new library
building is the provision of rooms for
what is known as seminar rooms or rooms
for instruction in the method of research.
This instruction, chiefly intended for post
graduates, necessitates having the actual
sources immediately about the instructor
and the handling of them by pupils. This
is peculiarly a method of book research,
and corresponds, for the historical, philo-
logical, and philosophical sciences, to the
laboratory for instruction in the physical
sciences. Five rooms have been provided
at each corner of the building excepting

that occupied by administration. These
are supplemented by four other rooms
which may, if necessary, be used for the
purpose, making a total of nineteen semi-
nar rooms measuring about 27 by 22 feet.

The northwest corner will probably be
assigned to Historical and Political Science
and English, the southwest corner to the
Philological Sciences and the southeast
to the Philosophical Sciences including
Art and Mathematics.

BAseMENT Roowms.

Besides the printing and binding room
and the administration basement already
described, the new building contains three
series of three rooms each, under the
seminar rooms. The northwest and south-
east rooms are occupied by ventilating
machinery, the northwest room containing
also the automatic exchange for the in-
terior telephone system, and the southwest
corner is occupied by a storage battery.

ExTERIOR DECORATION.

The four portrait statues on the west
tower are by J. Massey Rhind and repre-
sent James Madison of the Class of 1771,
President of the United States, and a Foun-
der of Whig Hall ; Oliver Ellsworth of the
Class of 1766, Chief Justice of the United
States, a Founder of Clio Hall; President
Witherspoon, the signer of the Declaration
of Independence, and President McCosh.
The Class of 1897 has a tablet on the north-
west corner and has planted ivy about it.

SUMMARY.

Some of the “points of agreement
among Librarians as to library architec-
ture,” as compiled by Mr. C. C. Soule, and
given in the November number of the
Brochure Series of Architectural Illustra-
tions, afford a basis of comparison as to
the absolute and relative satisfactoriness
of result in any library building.

According to Mr. Soule, Librarians are
agreed that the building should be (1)
planned for library work; (2) the partic-
ular kind of work to be done; (¢.e., Uni-
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versity, public, etc.); (3) the interior plan-
ned first; (4) no essential convenience
sacrificed for mere architectural effect ; (5)
adapted to growth; (6) with simple
decoration in use rooms; (7) planned for
economical administration ; (8) supervised
with fewest possible attendants; (9) as
much natural light as possible in all
parts; (10) high windows; (11) windows
opposite interval of cases; (12) arrange-
ment of obsolete books in alcoves (<. e., for
storage) ; (13) accommodations for special
readers near books; (14) circulating libra-
ry books near delivery desk; (15) refer-
ence library ledge 3 feet from floor; (16)
3 feet between cases enough; (17) noshelf
higher than a person can reach; (18)
shelving for folios and quartos in every
book room ; (19) straight flights prefera-
ble to circular; (20) communication be-
tween rooms by tubes and bells.

This library was carefully planned with
reference to the work of this University
Library (1, 2) and is proving exceedingly
satisfactory in use. The general lines of
interior were planned (3) before the archi-
tect was consulted. No essential conven-
ience (4) has been sacrificed toarchitecture.
The slight concessions to architecture
(such as the lighting of only one side of
fifth story of stack) in all cases stopping
short when anything essential was threat-
ened. The archway is not an architectural
concession, but was necesgitated by the
road, and partieular pains were given to
minimising the importance of this obstruc-
tion. The style allows of indefinite ex-
tension (5) in a series of quadrangles.
Interior is simple in decoration (6) and
particularly planned for economical ad-
ministration (7) to the point, in fact, that
(8) a single attendant with page stationed
at delivery desk can supervise the whole
machinery of use. While the library in
common with all other libraries falls short
of the ideal of a window opposite each
passage, windows are neverthelessarranged

opposite the intervals of cases (11) so far as
practicable, and the large amount of light
area, the white stack and the glass floors
secure ample natural light (9) in all parts
of the building. Windows are high (10)
throughout. Books are not arranged in
alcoves, (12) the Chancellor Green Library
being no exception, as a different purpose
is now served here, for which the alcoves
are an advantage. There are tables
throughout stack (13) for special readers.
Books are massed very closely (14) with
reference to delivery desk. Reference
library, using the old cases, does not have
ledge in the sense of Mr. Soule (15) but
ledges are provided between cases under
windows, and these together with the

tables serve the same purpose. In the
same way the Chancellor Green shelves
being of the carly style, are higher than a
man can reach (17), but in the new build-
ing throughout the principle is observed.
There is shelving for folios and quartos
(18) in every book room, and flights of
stairs arc not circular (19), except in the
old library, although they fall short of an
entire straight run from floor to floor.
Finally, there is complete internal com-
munication (20), by a system of twenty-
five telephones.

Practically speaking, therefore, in six-
teen points out of twenty the new build-
ing as a whole is *‘technically perfect.”
In two other points (end windows and
reerence ledges) there are thoroughly sat-
isfactory substitutes, so that both ends
aimed at by the principle—daylight and
resting place—are fully gained, and in the
case of the ledge gained in a better way.
The two remaiuing points (circular stairs
and books out of reach from floor) apply
only to the Chancellor Green Library,
which was built twenty-five years ago and
not to the new library, and are of so little
importance in this place that they were
not worth changing.

Practically, therefore, the new building
regards every point of agreement, while

" in the building taken as a whole only

two out of twenty f)oint.s fall short and
these only by a small fraction of the whole
building—say one staircase out of twenty-
four—and one per cent. of shelves.
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